
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 Reply:  Lindsay R. LeBlanc* 

*Law Corporation 
leblanc@coxtaylor.ca 

 
 File:  C-1769-1 
November 6, 2020  
 
City of Victoria 
1 Centennial Square 
Victoria, BC  V8W 1P6 
 
Attention: Mayor and Council 
 
Dear Sir/Madam: 
 
Re: Business Licence Appeal for 42 Moss Street 

 
We act for Birute Curran, also known as Birute Foster (the “Appellant”).  We have received the Licence 
Inspector’s letter dated June 18, 2020 (the “June 18 Letter”) along with the Submissions of the Licence 
Inspector dated October 29, 2020 (the “Submissions”).   

The Submissions raise, for the first time, additional grounds for denying a business licence to the Appellant.  As 
such, we are instructed to submit the following reply submissions on behalf of the Appellant:   

FACTS: 

1. In 2020, the Appellant applied for a business licence for a short-term rental at the Property, as had 
been granted in the past by the City.  The application was rejected on the grounds that the use is 
not permitted pursuant to Schedule D of the Zoning Regulation Bylaw.  The Appellant appealed 
the decision on the grounds that the use is legal and permitted.    
 

2. The Appellant, with her partner, reside at the Property as her principle residence.  This is not in 
dispute. 

 
3. The Appellant has rented out 2 bedrooms of the Property since at least August 2012 for short-

term rental.  This is not in dispute.       
 
4. The house located on the Property was constructed in 1954.  The only modification that has been 

undertaken to the house since construction is a renovation to the kitchen (electrical permit 
obtained) and some minor upgrading over the years, such as replacement of windows.  There has 
been no conversion of the Property to a duplex, as suggested by the Licence Inspector at paragraph 
8 of the Submissions.   There are no outstanding permits or occupancy permits required for the 
Property, as paragraph 8 of the Submissions suggest.  The Appellant has not applied to convert 
the Property to a duplex and any notation contained in the Prospero database relates to the City’s 
own initiative to convert the description of the Property, which the Appellant refused.   

 
5. The Property remains as it was constructed in 1954 as an approved “building”.   
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6. In reply to paragraph 9 of the Submissions, the two bedrooms are accessed through the house as 
the photographs attached to the Submissions and the original building permits confirm.  The 
Licence Inspector, at paragraph 13 of the Submissions, submits that the 2 bedrooms are not part 
of the Appellant’s principle residence – this is incorrect.  A review of the original building permit 
plans clearly demonstrates that the two bedrooms are part of the in-law suite attached to and 
forming part of the Appellant’s principle residence, as approved in 1954.   
 

7. In reply to paragraph 12 of the Submissions, the Appellant received a business licence in 2019; 
however, denies making the representation attributed to her and says that the licence application 
speaks for itself.  In any event, the short-term rental is within the in-law suite that was part of the 
originally constructed single-family house. 

 
8. The Licence Inspector originally refused the business licence relying on Schedule D of Bylaw No. 

18-035 (copy attached) that restrict rental of the entire self-contained dwelling unit (except 
occasionally while the operator is away).  Schedule D of Bylaw No. 18-035 was passed by 
Resolution of Council on March 8, 2018 after the Appellant commenced the use of the Property 
as a short-term rental.   

 
9. The use of the Property, as a short-term rental, also pre-dates the September 21, 2017 bylaw 

amendment that added a definition of “short-term rental”.       
 
LAW:  

10. The Appellant relies on s. 528 of the Local Government Act, [RSBC 2015] CHAPTER 1, and the 
decision of the Supreme Court of British Columbia decision, Newton v. The Corporation of the City of 
Victoria, 2018 BCSC 728 (attached).   
 

11. Section 528 of the Local Government Act provides as follows: 

Non-conforming uses: authority to continue use 
528       (1) Subject to this section, if, at the time a land use regulation bylaw is adopted, 
 

(a) land, or a building or other structure, to which that bylaw applies is 
lawfully used, and 
(b) the use does not conform to the bylaw, 

the use may be continued as a non-conforming use. 

(2) If a non-conforming use authorized under subsection (1) is discontinued for a 
continuous period of 6 months, any subsequent use of the land, building or other 
structure becomes subject to the land use regulation bylaw. 

(3) The use of land, a building or other structure, for seasonal uses or for agricultural 
purposes, is not discontinued as a result of normal seasonal or agricultural practices, 
including 
 

(a) seasonal, market or production cycles, 
(b) the control of disease or pests, or 
(c) the repair, replacement or installation of equipment to meet standards for 
the health or safety of people or animals. 
 

(4) A building or other structure that is lawfully under construction at the time of the 
adoption of a land use regulation bylaw is deemed, for the purpose of this section, 
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(a) to be a building or other structure existing at that time, and 
(b) to be then in use for its intended purpose as determined from the building 
permit authorizing its construction. 
 

(5) If subsection (1) authorizes a non-conforming use of part of a building or other 
structure to continue, the whole of that building or other structure may be used for 
that non-conforming use. 
 

12. In 2012, when the Appellant commenced renting out 2 bedrooms, on a short-term basis, short-
term rental was lawfully permitted. 
 

13. The relevant provisions of the pre-2017 amendments are contained within paragraph 17 of the 
Submissions and read as follows: 

 
“Subject to the following requirements, where any building is used as a single-family dwelling, 
up to two bedrooms may be used for transient accommodation as a home occupation.”   

14. The relevant language is “building”.   
 

15. The present zoning bylaw defines “building” as “anything constructed or placed on a lot used or 
intended for supporting or sheltering any use, excluding landscaping, docks, wharfs and 
piers”.  The definition appears to be consistently applied during the relevant periods.      
 

16. The house, as constructed in 1954, is a “building” and the Appellant has for all revenant periods 
of time used the building as a single-family dwelling.  Accordingly, on a proper reading of the 
applicable bylaw, the Appellant is permitted to rent up to two bedrooms for transient 
accommodation provided the two bedrooms are located in the “building” and the “building” is 
used as a “single family dwelling” which is not disputed by the Licence Inspector.  The applicable 
zoning of the property is “single-family dwelling” – R1B which is also not disputed.      

 
17. In a May 30, 2016 Report to the Committee of the Whole prepared by Jocelyn Jenkins, Deputy 

City Manager, the Appellant’s use of the property was confirmed as permitted: 
 

“In Zones where Home Occupation Use is permitted a licence may be obtained to rent up to 
two bedrooms for transient accommodation with limited regulations in Schedule "D" of the 
zoning bylaw.  Home Occupation uses can occur in most single-family areas. This allows for 
the rental of rooms and shared accommodation as long as the homeowner is living in the 
establishment. See Appendix C for a map of all parcels where transient accommodation is 
permitted including single-family dwellings and strata condominium parcels.” 

18. At paragraph 15 of the Submissions, the Licence Inspector relies on subparagraph 17(4) of the 
Zoning Regulation Bylaw.  The Licence Inspector does not; however, identify that the 
subparagraph 17(4) of the Zoning Regulation Bylaw was part of the September 21, 2017 
amendments approved by Council.  The Appellants use pre-dates Bylaw No. 17-084 and such 
reliance by the Licence Inspector is inconsistent with s. 528 of the Local Government Act.  Attached 
is a copy of Bylaw No. 17-084 (as attached to the Victoria City Council meeting September 21, 
2017 meeting agenda).   
 

19. The Licence Inspector seeks to apply a restriction regarding “self-contained dwelling units” that 
did not exist in 2012.   
 

20. The Applicant has a legal non-conforming authority to continue to rent out up to two bedrooms 
in the Property as per the pre-September, 2017 bylaws.        
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21. In response to paragraphs 26 and 27 of the Submissions, it is respectfully submitted that such 
current objectives of the City cannot be the basis for denying a legally protected right to use the 
Property.      

 
22. In conclusion, the Appellant has demonstrated a clear permitted use of the Property pursuant to 

s. 528 of the Local Government Act.  The Licence Inspector relies incorrectly on the current Zoning 
Regulation Bylaw to restrict a permitted use.   The Appellant requests issuance of its 2020 business 
licence and a finding that it has a lawful non-conforming status to continue to rent up to two 
bedrooms in the building as per the pre-September, 2017 bylaws.    

 
23. The Appellant seeks prompt written reasons of the decision of Council and the record of the 

decision should Council uphold the decision of the Licence Inspector.   
 

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED. 

Yours very truly, 
 
COX TAYLOR 
 
Per: 
  
 

Lindsay R. LeBlanc* 
 *Law Corporation 
LRL/jt 
Encl. 
cc: client 






































